No. **S234969**

Ninth Circuit No. 14-55530

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV - 2 2016

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

In the

Supreme Court of California

Deputy



DOUGLAS TROESTER, et al.,

Plaintiff – Appellant – Petitioner,

STARBUCKS CORPORATION, et al.,

Defendants – Appellees.

ON GRANT OF REQUEST TO DECIDE ISSUE PURSUANT TO CALIFORNIA RULES OF COURT, RULE 8.548

ON APPEAL FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA HON. GARY ALLEN FEESS, PRESIDING DISTRICT COURT CASE No. 2:12-cv-07677-GAF-PJW

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SETAREH LAW GROUP

I. QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Ninth Circuit requested and this Court agreed pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.548, to decide the following question:

Does the federal Fair Labor Standards Act's *de minimis* doctrine, as stated in *Anderson v. Mt Clements Pottery Co.*, 328 U.S. 680, 692 (1946) and *Lindow v. United States*, 738 F.2d 1057, 1063 (9th Cir. 1982), apply to claims for unpaid wages under the California Labor Code sections 510, 1194 and 1197?

II. INTRODUCTION

According to all governing statutory and decisional authority in California, an employer must compensate an employee if the employee performs work for the employer and the employer knew or should have known that the work was performed. Thus, the question posed by this appeal is simple: does California wage and hour law require employers to pay for *all* off-the-clock work that the employer either knows or should know is occurring? The answer to that question is a resounding, unambiguous "Yes," based upon California's Labor Code provisions, the governing Wage Order of the Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC"), and decisional authority that includes authority issued by this Court.

The failure to pay employees all their wages for all time worked constitutes an injustice recognized as such for thousands of years: "But the wages of one who labors are not accounted to him as a favor, but as that which is owed to him." Romans 4:4 (Aramaic Bible, English transl.) The bright-line requirement under California law that employers must pay wages for all time worked by their employees was this state's response to that form of injustice. But the recognition of a *de minimis*

exception to an employer's obligation to pay for all hours worked would undermine California's decisive steps to remedy that injustice through statutory mandates.

In this matter, Defendant Starbucks Corporation ("Starbucks") contends that California should recognize a *de minimis* excuse to its obligation to pay all wages for all hours worked. Seeking to avoid its employer obligations with a defense akin to the obsolete *de minimis* defense created over 70 years ago by federal courts under the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"), Starbucks would impose upon employees an equitable defense that the California legislature refused to adopt, and the IWC refused to impose. However, consistent with California's well-defined framework of statutory and regulatory law that leaves no room for such a court-created *de minimis* excuse, this Court repeatedly held — most recently in 2015 — that when the IWC intends to incorporate federal law into California's wage and hour regulatory framework, it *expressly* says so:

The IWC intended to import federal rules only in those circumstances to which the IWC made specific reference.

Mendiola v. CPS Sec. Solutions, Inc., 60 Cal. 4th 833, 843 (2015). This Court should reject the similar attempt to impose weaker federal law protections here.

California's robust and comprehensive body of statutory law regulating the employee-employer relationship is also, in and of itself, sufficient to conclude that employers must pay for *all* off-the-clock work that they either know or should know is occurring. Labor Code § 510 requires payment for all overtime worked. Lab. Code § 510(a). And Labor Code § 1197 declares it unlawful to pay less than the minimum wage set by the applicable IWC Wage Order. Lab. Code § 1197.

The requirements set forth in the Labor Code are not toothless. The California Legislature has deemed the obligation to promptly pay all wages owed to employees so fundamental a right that it has criminalized what otherwise has the characteristics of a civil matter to underscore the gravity of its policy pronouncements crafted to protect employees. While, employees are authorized by statute to enforce any deviation from the requirements set forth in Labor Code §§ 510 and 1197 civilly, Labor Code § 1194, California's Labor Code *criminalizes* an employer's violations of numerous Labor Code provisions. *See*, Lab. Code §§ 216, 553, and 1199. A statutory right to collect the "full" amount of "all" wages, backed by criminal sanction, cannot be construed to create an exception not recognized by the California Legislature.

Beyond the Labor Code provisions that embody California's requirement that employers pay employees for *all* time worked, the IWC Wage Orders confirm that payment for "all hours worked" is incompatible with the hoary *de minimis* defense that arose under federal law in a bygone era. Wage Order No. 5 also mandates a minimum wage payment for "all hours worked" and a premium rate of pay for "all hours worked" overtime. Wage Order No. 5 §§ 3(A)(1) and (4)(A). Wage Order No. 5 defines "hours worked" as including "*all the time* the employee is suffered or

¹ And, in addition to an employee's statutory right to collect all minimum and overtime wages owed, other statutory provisions embody a clear, unequivocal directive that California employers must pay for all time worked. *See, e.g.*, Lab. Code § 204(a) ("All wages" earned are due and payable on a regular schedule); Lab. Code § 219 (precludes any agreement that would alter or modify the timing of the payment of all wages earned by a departing employee).

permitted to work, whether or not required to do so " (Emphasis added.)²

While Defendant Starbucks (and the litany of employer organizations that will no doubt seek to influence the outcome here) will decry the absence of a *de minimis* excuse for failing to fully compensate their employees, a *de minimis* excuse is unnecessary in California.³ Far from lacking protections and standards, California already clearly defines the standard for adjudicating employee claims of any off-the-clock work, including small and infrequent amounts of such time. In order to establish liability under the standard set forth in the Wage Orders, the employee must show that the employer either knew or should have known that the work was occurring. *Morillion v. Royal Packing Company*, 22 Cal. 4th 575, 585 (2000) ("The words 'suffer' and 'permit' as used in the statute mean 'with the knowledge of the employer."). Under California law, an employer must pay for all work that it knows or should know is occurring (as well as for any time where it exercises control over the employee, such as when it instructs the employee to compete specific tasks).

Unquestionably, incorporating the *de minimis* rule into California law would be contrary to California law and policy, as well as injurious to California employees. Some federal district courts interpreting the *de minimis* rule have held that daily time periods of ten minutes are *de minimis*. As explained below, the incremental effect of

² The relevant language in other wage orders is identical. Wage Order No. 5 is cited herein because the Wage Order for Public Housekeeping it applies to Starbucks employees.

³ Employer claims of burden also ring hollow. The *employer* is required to keep records of the hours worked including when the employee began and ended work. Lab. Code § 1174; Wage Order No. 5 § 7(A)(3). The *de minimis* excuse seeks to disregard that record-keeping obligation, along with the obligation to pay all wages for all hours worked.

tolerating uncompensated time periods of up to ten minutes is that employees will work up to one workweek every year without pay. This is a significant amount of money for an individual low wage worker, and a vast sum of money in the aggregate.

California's statutes and Wage Orders are clear. There is no basis for creating an exception to those requirements, undermining the policies embodied by statute and regulation while injecting needless complexity into an employee's attempt to ascertain what work is entitled to compensation. The Labor Code and the Wage Orders already include a bright line rule – employers must pay for all hours worked. In other contexts, California Courts routinely reject pleas for a *de minimis* defense to statutory obligations, and, consistent with those holdings, this Court should hold, consistent with Labor Code §§ 510, 1194 and 1197 (as well as other sections discussed herein), and consistent with this Court's recent decision in *Mendiola*, that there is no *de minimis* excuse to claims for unpaid wages under California law.

III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Because Starbucks Required Employees to Complete Tasks After Clocking Out, Starbucks Knew (or Should Have Known) That Employees Worked Off-the-Clock and Without Compensation

Petitioner Douglas Troester worked for Starbucks as a shift supervisor.

(Certification Order at 3.) As testified to by Mr. Troester and five other Starbucks'

⁴ The California Legislature, in 2013, amended Labor Code § 226 to define what would constitute an "injury" under the wage statement statute. As amended, an employee suffers injury if an employer knowingly fails to provide a wage statement stating the total hours worked and the gross wages earned. Lab. Code § 226(a), (e). A *de minimis* excuse would substantially impede an employee's ability to determine whether a wage statement accurately stated the required information.

California store employees, Starbucks trained closing shift employees to clock out on Starbucks' computer system before initiating the store closing procedure on a separate computer. (3 ER 438, 503-505, 519-521; 4 ER 765-766, 772-773, 779, 785-786, 792-793.) Petitioner's evidence in the trial court in opposition to summary judgment showed that during the class period, when Troester worked a closing shift, he had to clock out on Starbucks' computer system, and then initiate a "store close procedure" on a separate computer. (Certification Order at 4.) This procedure would transmit sales, profit and loss, and inventory data to Starbucks' headquarters. (*Id.*) He would also lock the store, and walk co-workers to their cars as required by Starbucks' safety guidelines. (*Id.*) These tasks took 4 to 10 minutes on a daily basis. *Id.* During the seventeen months that Mr. Troester worked for Starbucks, the aggregate amount of unpaid closing shift time was approximately 12 hours and 50 minutes which amounts to roughly a full day-and-a-half in unpaid minimum wages. (*Id.*)

At the end of 2010, Starbucks changed its procedures so that store employees no longer had to run a store closing procedure after clocking out. (3 ER 437, 4 ER 577-578, 691.)

B. The Trial Court's Summary Judgment Order Held That Any Off-the-Clock Work Less Than Ten Minutes in Length Was "De Minimis" and Did Not Need to Be Compensated

On August 6, 2012, Douglas Troester filed a class action complaint in the Superior Court for the State of California, County of Los Angeles, on behalf of himself and all non-exempt Starbucks employees in California who performed store closing tasks from mid-2009 to October 2010. Starbucks removed the case to federal

court, and moved for summary judgment.

On March 7, 2014, the trial court issued an order granting the motion for summary judgment. *Troester v. Starbucks Corporation*, 2014 WL 1004098 (N.D. Cal. 2014). The trial court held that the federal *de minimis* doctrine set forth in the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co.*, 328 U.S. 680 (1946) applies as a defense to California state law wage and hour claims. *Troester*, at *3.

In applying the *de minimis* doctrine the trial court cited to factors set forth by the Ninth Circuit in *Lindow v. United States*, 738 F.2d 1057 (9th Cir. 1982), including "1) the practical difficulty of recording the additional time; 2) the aggregate amount of compensable time; 3) and the regularity of the additional work." *Troester*, at *3. The district court also cited to federal authorities holding that daily time periods of ten minutes or less qualify as *de minimis*. *Troester*, at *3.

The trial court found that the first two *Lindow* factors were satisfied. *Troester*, at 4. As to the third factor, whether the uncompensated work occurs regularly, the trial court concluded that even where the uncompensated work occurs daily the *de minimis* doctrine applies, as long as the first two factors are met. *Troester*, at 5. The trial court concluded that: "the few minutes that Plaintiff spent closing the store at the end of his shift were far from substantial and fall well within the 10 minute *de minimis* benchmark." *Troester*, at 5. Based on its analysis and conclusion that California law includes a *de minimis* defense, the trial court granted summary judgment.

C. Proceedings in The Ninth Circuit

Mr. Troester appealed the trial court's order granting summary judgment. The North Circuit held oral argument in the case on April 6, 2016. On June 2, 2016, the North Circuit issued an order pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.548(a)(1), and casting that this Court decide whether the federal *de minimis* doctrine applies under California law. This Court granted the request on August 17, 2016.

DISCUSSION

A. Statutory and Regulatory Framework

1. The Statutory and Regulatory Framework Defining California
Wage and Hour Law

Wage and hour law in California is governed by the Labor Code and, with more detailed particularity, the Wage Orders promulgated by the IWC. *Martinez & Combs*, 49 Cal. 4th 35, 52 (2010), as modified (June 9, 2010) ("Section 1194 is the above successor of, and its operative language comes immediately from, section 13 of the attendified 1913 act (Stats. 1913, ch. 324, § 13, p. 637) that created the IWC and attendated to it the power to fix minimum wages, maximum hours and standard conditions of labor for workers in California."). The Labor Code and the Wage Coders operate in concert to establish California's "standard conditions of labor." Lab. Code § 1198; *Indus. Welfare Comm'n v. Superior Court*, 27 Cal. 3d 690, 700-701 (1980); *see also, Martinez*, at 52-62, for this Court's extensive discussion of the broad newers conferred on IWC by the California Legislature and constitutional amendment.

The Wage Order applicable to this case is Wage Order No. 5, which applies to

1000年では、1000年である。

the Public House Keeping Industry. Wage Order No. 5 subd. 2(P)(1) ("Public Housekeeping Industry" includes any establishment "where food in either solid or liquid form is prepared and served to be consumed on the premises."). California's Labor Laws, including the Wage Orders, are enforced (but *not* enacted) by the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement (DLSE). *Morillion v. Royal Packing Co.*, 22 Cal. 4th 575, 581 (2000).

The IWC Wage Orders have the force of law and are interpreted like statutes. Kilby v. CVS Pharmacy Inc., 63 Cal. 4th 1, 11 (2016) ("The IWC's wage orders are to be accorded the same dignity as statutes."). Consistent with California's over-arching policy of employee protection, the Wage Orders are "liberally construed to protect and benefit employees." Id. Tremendous deference is shown by Courts to the IWC's orders. Martinez, at 60 ("The Legislature and the voters have repeatedly demanded the courts' deference to the IWC's authority and orders.")

The DLSE's Enforcement Policies and Interpretations Manual – last updated in 2013 in any respect and thus issued prior to this Court's clear guidance in *Mendiola* – directly conflicts with the IWC Wage Orders in that it improperly sets forth a *de minimis* standard based upon federal law. *See* DLSE Enforcement Policies and Interpretations Manual, at Sections 47 and 48. But, the DLSE's interpretations of Wage Orders and statutes are not binding on Courts. *Mendiola*, 60 Cal. 4th at 848; *see also*, DLSE Enforcement Policies and Interpretations Manual, at Section 1

⁵ For purposes of the issues in this case, the other Wage Orders are substantively identical to Wage Order No. 5. There are 17 industry and occupation Wage Orders and one minimum wage order.

(acknowledging that the Manual does not constitute a regulation and citing authority for the proposition, including authority from this Court). As this Court explained:

Although entitled to consideration and respect, the agency's construction of wage orders is not binding on this Court . . . [W]hile the DLSE is charged with administering and enforcing California's labor laws, it is the Legislature and the IWC that possess the authority to enact laws and promulgate wage orders.

Id., citing Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc., 40 Cal. 4th 1094, 1105 (2007); see also, Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization 19 Cal.4th 1, 7–8 (1998). Moreover, when the DLSE's construction "flatly contradicts" a prior interpretation, it is not entitled to "significant deference." Henning v. Industrial Welfare Com., 46 Cal. 3d 1262, 1278 (1988).

Under Wage Order No. 5 (and the other Wage Orders), employers must pay employees the minimum wage for all "hours worked." Wage Order No. 5 subd. 4(A). Hours worked includes all time that the employee is subject to the control of the employer and includes all time that the employee is "suffered or permitted to work" by the employer "whether or not required to do so." Wage Order No. 5 Subd. 2(K); *Morillion*, at 585-586. An employer suffers or permits work where the employer knows (or should know) that work is occurring and fails to prevent it. *Martinez v. Combs*, 49 Cal. 4th 35, 70 (2010).

California's Wage Orders are separate and distinct from any federal wage and hour law. This Court has explained that Wage Orders should only be construed as incorporating federal law where a Wage Order expressly states an intention to do so. *Mendiola*, 60 Cal. 4th at 843; *Martinez*. at 67, citing *Morillion*, at 592 ("Where the IWC intended the FLSA to apply to wage orders it has specifically so stated.").

The requirement that employers pay minimum wage and overtime is an important public policy. As one Court of Appeal explained: "Straight time wages (above the minimum wage) are a matter of private contract between the employer and the employee. Entitlement to overtime compensation, on the other hand is mandated by statute, and is based on an important public policy." *Earley v. Superior Court,* 79 Cal. App. 4th 1420, 1430 (2000); Lab. Code § 1197.

2. The Federal *De Minimis* Doctrine

The *de minimis* doctrine was first applied to wage claims arising under the FLSA in the United States Supreme Court's *Anderson* decision. In *Anderson*, a class of pottery workers, employed in a giant pottery plant spanning eight acres, alleged they had not been fully compensated for their time at work, including preliminary activities such as switching on machinery, and putting on aprons and overalls, as well as time walking from employee lockers to working places. *Anderson*, 328 U.S. at 683. As a result, they were not paid overtime compensation that was required by section 7(a) of the FLSA.

Turning back the clock to 1946, long before computerized timeclocks, servers, and payroll systems existed, and long before software almost instantaneously calculated the wages and withholdings of employees, the *Anderson* Court observed that when a FLSA claim "concerns only a few seconds or minutes of work beyond the scheduled working hours, such trifles may be disregarded. Split-second absurdities are not justified by the actualities or working conditions or by the policy of the FLSA. It is only when an employee is required to give up a substantial measure of his time

and effort that compensable working time is involved." *Anderson*, at 692; 29 C.F.R. 785.47. But *Anderson* arose in the context of a situation where there was uncertainty as to how long employees spent on work activities, in light of the technologies of the day (the day being 1946). Thus, *Anderson* should properly be confined to situations in *federal* claim suits and read with an understanding of its historical origins.

Ninth Circuit first articulated its construction of the *de minimis* doctrine in *Lindow*. *Lindow*, observing that no fixed *de minimis* "rule can be applied with mathematical certainty," held that four factors must be considered when determining if an activity is *de minimis* as a matter of federal law: (1) the amount of time spent on the additional work, (2) the administrative difficulty in recording time, (3) the size of the aggregate claim, and (4) the regularity of the work. *Lindow*, 738 F.2d at 1062-64 (emphasis added).

The *de minimis* doctrine has been codified in federal law at 24 C.F.R. § 785.47, though even the Wage and Hour Division of the Department of Labor, issuing its regulation in 1961 confirmed that the *de minimis* doctrine did not apply where an employer arbitrarily refused to count all hours worked:

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