S234969

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DOUGLAS TROESTER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

ν.

STARBUCKS CORPORATION,

Defendant and Respondent.

SUPREME COURT

JAN 2 5 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES
COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT
CASE NO. 14-55530

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUER & FELD LLP

*REX S. HEINKE (SBN 066163)
RHEINKE@AKINGUMP.COM
GREGORY W. KNOPP (SBN 237615)
GKNOPP@AKINGUMP.COM
MARK R. CURIEL (SBN 222749)
MCURIEL@AKINGUMP.COM
JONATHAN P. SLOWIK (SBN 287635)
JPSLOWIK@AKINGUMP.COM
1999 AVENUE OF THE STARS, SUITE 600
LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90067
TELEPHONE: 310-229-1000

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

III. ARGUMENT

The de minimis rule was first adopted in FLSA cases in Anderson:

When the matter in issue concerns only a few seconds or minutes of work beyond the scheduled working hours, such trifles may be disregarded. Split-second absurdities are not justified by the actualities of working conditions or by the policy of the Fair Labor Standards Act. It is only when an employee is required to give up a substantial measure of his time and effort that compensable working time is involved.

(Anderson, supra, 328 U.S. at p. 692.)

Relying on Anderson, the courts developed a three factor test to "determin[e] whether otherwise compensable time is de minimis": "(1) the practical administrative difficulty of recording the additional time; (2) the aggregate amount of compensable time; and (3) the regularity of the additional work." (Lindow, supra, 738 F.2d at p. 1063; see also, e.g., Carlsen v. U.S. (Fed. Cir. 2008) 521 F.3d 1371, 1380-1381 [following Lindow]; De Asencio v. Tyson Foods, Inc. (3d Cir. 2007) 500 F.3d 361, 374-375 [same]; Reich v. N.Y.C. Transit Auth. (2d Cir. 1995) 45 F.3d 646, 652 [same].)

As Lindow observed, the "de minimis rule concerns 'just plain everyday practicality.'" (Lindow, supra, 738 F.3d at p. 1063, quoting

Veech & Moon, De Minimis Non Curat Lex (1947) 45 Mich.L.Rev. 537, 551.) While "[m]ost courts have found daily periods of approximately 10 minutes de minimis," "[t]here is no precise amount of time that may be denied compensation as de minimis." (Id. at p. 1062.) "No rigid rule can be applied with mathematical certainty. Rather, common sense must be applied to the facts of each case." (Ibid.)

This common sense and practical approach, "justified by industrial realities," is also embodied in the Code of Federal Regulations. (29 C.F.R. § 785.47 ["[I]nsubstantial or insignificant periods of time beyond the scheduled working hours, which cannot as a practical administrative matter be precisely recorded for payroll purposes, may be disregarded."].)

The *Lindow* test "reflects a balance between requiring an employer to pay for activities it requires of its employees and the need to avoid 'split-second absurdities' that 'are not justified by the actuality of the working conditions." (*Rutti v. Lojack Corp.* (9th Cir. 2010) 596 F.3d 1046, 1057, quoting *Lindow, supra*, 738 F.2d at p. 1062.) As Judge Posner of the Seventh Circuit has stated, the rule is often applied when "the harm is small but measuring it for purposes of calculating a remedy would be difficult, time-consuming, and uncertain, hence not worthwhile given that smallness." (*Mitchell v. JCG Industries, Inc.* (7th Cir. 2014) 745 F.3d 837, 841.)

These common sense principles, as explained below, apply equally to wage claims under the California Labor Code.

A. The *De Minimis* Rule Has Long Been A Central Component Of California Law, So It Is Not A Federal Rule.

Troester argues that this Court should reject application of a "federal" de minimis rule, assuming the de minimis rule is a federal rule. It is not. It "is a maxim of ancient origins, 'old' even in the infancy of the

nation," and it even informs whether rights under both the United States and California Constitutions have been violated. (*Gerawan Farming, Inc. v. Lyons* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 468, 514 [despite differences between the rights to freedom of speech under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution and under article I of the California Constitution, the *de minimis* rule applies to article I "as well"].)

The de minimis rule is "part of the established background of legal principles against which all enactments are adopted, and which all enactments (absent contrary indication) are deemed to accept." (Wisconsin Dept. of Revenue v. Wrigley Co. (1992) 505 U.S. 214, 231 (Wrigley).) In Wrigley, the Supreme Court interpreted 15 U.S.C. § 381, which "confers immunity from state income taxes on any company whose 'only business activities' in that State consist of 'solicitation of orders' for interstate sales." (Id. at p. 223.) Relying on the word "only," Wisconsin argued that the "plain language" of Section 381 bars "recognition of a de minimis exception" and thus a company loses its tax immunity if it conducts any instate activities that go beyond "solicitation." (Id. at p. 231.) The Court disagreed, finding that such an interpretation "ignores" the fundamental and "established" nature of the de minimis rule and would lead to absurd results. (*Ibid.* ["Wisconsin's reading of the statute renders a company liable for hundreds of thousands of dollars in taxes if one of its salesmen sells a 10-cent item in state."].)

The rule is grounded in the "venerable maxim de minimis non curat lex ('the law cares not for trifles')." (Wrigley, supra, 505 U.S. at p. 231.)

This maxim has been codified in California law since at least the adoption

of the Civil Code in 1872. (Civ. Code, § 3533 ["The law disregards trifles."].)⁴

California courts have long applied this rule in a broad range of cases. (See, e.g., People v. Armstrong (2016) 1 Cal.5th 432, 452 [where juror "looked at a book and a cell phone 'one or two times' for 'a few minutes[,]' [s]uch de minimis references . . . do not support a determination that [she] was refusing to deliberate"]; Claremont Police Officers Ass'n v. City of Claremont (2006) 39 Cal.4th 623, 638-639 [city not required to confer with union before requiring officers to document race and ethnicity of persons subject to vehicle stops because it took officers only several minutes per shift to fill out the forms, and thus "the impact on the officers' working conditions was de minimis"]; Connell v. Higgins (1915) 170 Cal. 541, 556 [where contractor has substantially performed his contract, recovery of the price is not defeated by "trivial defects or imperfections in the work performed"]; Wolf v. Prosser (1887) 73 Cal. 219, 219-220 [where "property to be sold and the proceeds divided in a specified way" and the amount in dispute "amounted to only ten dollars[,] [w]e think this is a proper case for the application of the maxim, De minimis [non curat lex]"]; see also Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 49, 79 ["Time and effort spent assembling materials for an application to modify a loan is the sort of nominal damage subject to the maxim de minimis non curat lex "]; Bermudez v. Fulton Auto Depot, LLC (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 1318, 1325 [fact that auto dealer overcharged buyer by two dollars for vehicle license fees was a "trifle[]"]; In re Marriage of Crook (1992) 2 Cal. App. 4th 1606, 1608-1609 & fn. 2 [in determining spousal share of a community property pension, "[w]e do not modify the

⁴ Troester argues that the Legislature specifically adopts a defense when it intends for a defense to apply. (AOB 16-17.) Section 3533 shows that it did so.

\$2.38 per month discrepancy since it is de minimis"]; *Harris v. Time, Inc.* (1987) 191 Cal.App.3d 449, 458-460 [unfair advertising lawsuit "de minimis' in the extreme" and "absurd waste of the resources of this court" where "plaintiffs' real complaint is that they were tricked into opening a piece of junk mail, *not* that they were misled into buying anything"], original emphasis; *Overholser v. Glynn* (1968) 267 Cal.App.2d 800, 810 [one additional month of prejudgment interest, while improper, was "de minimis and not sufficient ground for modifying the judgment"]; *Nye & Nisson v. Weed Lumber Co.* (1928) 92 Cal.App. 598, 607-608 ["To permit the cancellation of a contract for 750 cases of processed eggs merely because a minimum number thereof arrived at their destination unfit for use would violate the spirit of the legal maximum *de minimis non curat lex.*"].)

Thus, the *de minimis* rule is a fundamental part of California law—not an import from federal law. Troester completely ignores this.

- B. The *De Minimis* Rule Applies To California Wage Claims.
 - 1. Courts Have Regularly Applied The *De Minimis* Rule To California Wage Claims.

Given California's longstanding adoption of the *de minimis* rule, it is not surprising that many courts have applied the *de minimis* rule to wage and hour claims under California law. (*Gomez v. Lincare, Inc.* (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 508, 527-528 [applying *Lindow* test to California wage claim]; accord *Corbin v. Time Warner Ent't-Advance/Newhouse P'ship* (9th Cir. 2016) 821 F.3d 1069, 1081-1082 & fn. 11; *Gillings v. Time Warner Cable LLC* (9th Cir. 2014) 583 F.App'x 712, 714; *Cervantez v. Celestica Corp.*, (C.D.Cal. 2009) 618 F.Supp.2d 1208, 1216-1217; *Alvarado v. Costco Wholesale Corp.* (N.D.Cal., June 18, 2008, No. C 06-04015 JSW) 2008 WL 2477393, at *3-4; *Cornn v. UPS, Inc.* (N.D.Cal., Aug. 26, 2005, No. C03-2001 TEH) 2005 WL 2072091, at *4.) This Court should do the same.

2. California Courts Regularly Look To Federal Guidance Where There Is No Conflict.

"Federal decisions have frequently guided our interpretation of state labor provisions the language of which parallels that of federal statutes." (Building Material, supra, 41 Cal.3d at p. 658 ["consider[ing] federal... precedents" to construe statutory obligation to bargain collectively under California law where that obligation was the same as under the National Labor Relations Act]; See's Candy Shops, Inc. v. Superior Court (2013) 210 Cal.App.4th 889, 903 ["In the absence of controlling or conflicting California law, California courts generally look to federal regulations under the FLSA for guidance."].)

This Court has looked to federal law in determining what "hours worked" means unless California law conflicts with it. (*Morillion v. Royal Packing Co.* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 575, 584-585 [relying on federal regulations and case law to interpret meaning of the phrase "suffered or permitted to work," as that phrase appears in both the FLSA and California definitions of "hours worked"]; *id.* at p. 593 [declining to follow federal guidance on the compensability of travel time because "federal and state law regarding travel time are *dissimilar*"], emphasis added.) Here, despite Troester's assertions to the contrary, there is no conflict between state and federal law, so this Court should look to federal law—*Anderson* and *Lindow*—for guidance on adopting and applying a *de minimis* rule.

Troester argues that the *de minimis* rule conflicts with the plain language of California law, which requires that "any" or "all" hours worked be compensated. (AOB 1-3, 13-16.) But his argument assumes that federal law differs in this regard. It does not. (*Bamonte v. City of Mesa* (9th Cir. 2010) 598 F.3d 1217, 1220 ["It is axiomatic, under the FLSA, that employers must pay employees for *all* hours worked."], quoting *Alvarez v. IBP, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2003) 339 F.3d 894, 902, *aff'd on other grounds sub*

nom. IBP v. Alvarez (2005) 546 U.S. 21, emphasis added; 29 C.F.R. § 778.223 ["an employee must be compensated for all hours worked"], emphasis added; see also 29 U.S.C. § 207(b)(2) [employees subject to collective bargaining agreements must still "receive compensation for all hours guaranteed or worked"], emphasis added.)

The cases applying the *de minimis* rule similarly acknowledge that the FLSA requires payment for *all* hours worked. (*Anderson, supra*, 328 U.S. at pp. 690-691 [compensable time "includes *all* time during which an employee is necessarily required to be on the employer's premises, on duty or at a prescribed workplace"], emphasis added; *id.* at pp. 691-694 [finding minutes spent "walking" from time clocks to work areas and performing preliminary tasks to be compensable, but remanding case for determination of how much of the time may be "disregarded" under *de minimis* rule]; *Lindow, supra*, 738 F.2d at p. 1062 ["As a general rule, employees cannot recover for *otherwise compensable* time if it is *de minimis*."], emphasis added.)

Because California law is the same as federal law in this respect, "federal precedents . . . furnish reliable authority in construing" what it means to pay for "all" of the "hours" worked by California employees. (*Building Material*, *supra*, 41 Cal.3d at p. 658.)

See's is instructive. The defendant argued that a federal standard should guide whether a California employer may "round" employee work times "for purposes of computing and paying wages . . . " (See's, supra, 210 Cal.App.4th at p. 900.) Because "there [wa]s no California statute or case law specifically authorizing or prohibiting this practice," the court found that the "federal[] standard is the appropriate standard." (Id. at p. 901.)

Moreover, like here, the California Division of Labor Standards
Enforcement (DLSE) endorsed the standard (discussed in § III.B.3, below),

the Legislature never acted by amendment or otherwise to indicate that the DLSE's position was incorrect, and there was "no conflicting California law" such that resorting to federal guidance would be improper. (See's, supra, 210 Cal.App.4th at pp. 902-903, 905.) The court reasoned that time-rounding, like the de minimis rule, is grounded in practicality and efficiency, designed to compensate employee hours as precisely as possible without imposing an undue burden on employers, even if that means not every employee will ultimately be paid for every single minute that she works. (Id. at pp. 903, 908 & fn. 7 [it is "questionable" whether employees who "had a net loss of a minimal amount . . . would be entitled to a recovery for these wages"], emphasis added.)

See's also rejected an argument like Troester makes, namely, that rounding employee work times somehow conflicted with the statutory obligation to pay "[a]ll wages" or pay overtime for "[a]ny work in excess of eight hours in one workday" (See's, supra, 210 Cal.App.4th at pp. 904-905, citing Lab. Code, §§ 204, 510, original emphasis); compare AOB 1-4, 13-16, 18-20 [arguing that the de minimis rule conflicts with the plain language of Sections 204 and 510, inter alia, which require that "any" and "all" hours be compensated].)

However, Sections 204 and 510 "h[ave] nothing to do with" how an employer may "measure[]" or "calculat[e]" worktime. (See's, supra, 210 Cal.App.4th at p. 905.) Rather, for example, Section 510 simply "sets the multiplier for the rate at which 'Any' overtime work must be paid." (Ibid. ["Fundamentally, the question whether all wages have been paid is different from the issue of how an employer calculates the number of hours worked and thus what wages are owed."], original emphasis.)

Troester's cited authorities are distinguishable. As stated above, Morillion declined to import federal standards on the compensability of compulsory travel time because they conflicted with the plain language of the California Wage Orders. (*Morillion, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at pp. 589-590, 594 ["[W]e conclude that the relevant portions of the FLSA and Portal-to-Portal Act *differ substantially* from Wage Order No. 14-80 and related state authority. Therefore, Royal's reliance on federal authority, and the Court of Appeal's deference to it, are not persuasive."], emphasis added.)

Troester's reliance on Ramirez v. Yosemite Water Co., Inc. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 785, and Armenta v. Osmose, Inc. (2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 314, is misplaced for the same reason. In Ramirez, this Court found that "where the language or intent of state and federal labor laws substantially differ, reliance on federal regulations or interpretations to construe state regulations is misplaced." (Ramirez, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 797, emphasis added; id. at pp. 793, 797 [noting "fundamental conflict" between California definition of outside salesperson, which focuses on "how much work time is spent selling," and federal definition, which does not].) And in Armenta, defendant's reliance on the federal minimum wage standard was improper because it "contravenes" the California Labor Code. (Armenta, supra, 135 Cal.App.4th at p. 323.)

Here, no such conflict or difference—much less a "substantial" difference—exists because both federal law and state law require compensation for "all" "hours" worked. Thus, this Court may properly look to federal guidance in determining what those two words reasonably mean. (Building Material, supra, 41 Cal.3d at p. 658; see also Ramirez, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 795 [California law only "sometimes" departs from federal law or "provide[s] greater protection than is provided under the [FLSA]"]; Gillings, supra, 583 F.App'x at p. 714 [rejecting argument that

Morillion, or fact that California generally provides "greater protection to employees" than the FLSA, precludes application of the *de minimis* rule].)⁵

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